# **RECEIVED**

10-25-2018

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP001639-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PATRICK D. ZOLLIECOFFER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable William S. Pocan Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 augustc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion in denying Mr. Zolliecoffer's request to proceed with retained counsel of choice and for an adjournment of his trial?

The circuit court denied the request.

2. Did the State unlawfully strike two potential jurors on the basis of their race?

The circuit court answered no.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Zolliecoffer takes no position on publication.

While Mr. Zolliecoffer does not request oral argument, he welcomes the opportunity to discuss the case should the Court believe that oral argument would be of assistance to its resolution of the matter.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The information charged Mr. Zolliecoffer with disorderly conduct contrary to Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1); battery to a law enforcement officer contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.203(2); and attempted disarming of a peace officer contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 941.21 and 939.32. (5:1).

Mr. Zolliecoffer was convicted of all charges following a jury trial. (41:1); (App. 104). The circuit court, the Honorable William S. Pocan presiding, imposed and stayed a prison sentence and placed Mr. Zolliecoffer on probation for three years. (41:1); (App. 104).

Mr. Zolliecoffer filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (42). This appeal follows. (48).

#### STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

## **Underlying Offense**

According to the criminal complaint, law enforcement was summoned to a courtroom at the Milwaukee County Courthouse following an alleged disturbance at a family court hearing. (1:2). Upon arrival, Deputy Adam Frick of the Milwaukee County Sheriff's Office claimed that Mr. Zolliecoffer was "arguing" with Commissioner Susan Callies. (1:2). Deputy Frick remained in the courtroom throughout the remainder of the hearing. (60:87).

After the hearing concluded, Mr. Zolliecoffer made a comment which Attorney Ann Hetzel of the Milwaukee Child Support Agency perceived as a threat. (1:2). She would later claim that Mr. Zolliecoffer stated he was "coming for" her. (60:71). Mr. Zolliecoffer, who had appeared *pro se* at the hearing, claimed that he had only stated he was "coming back with a lawyer." (61:97). Mr. Zolliecoffer left the courtroom. (60:95). On his way out the door,

Attorney Hetzel "yelled" to Deputy Frick and asked him if he was "going to do anything about that." (60:95).

As Mr. Zolliecoffer continued on his way, Deputy Frick signaled to another officer, Deputy Michael Johnson. (60:104).The officers two Mr.Zolliecoffer from behind approached and "grab[bed]" him. (60:106). A scuffle ensued. (1:2). According to Deputy Frick, Mr. Zolliecoffer was "pulling" at his Taser during the scuffle. (1:2). Mr. Zolliecoffer was eventually arrested and placed in custody. (1:2).

## Pretrial Proceedings

Mr. Zolliecoffer was initially represented by State Public Defender staff counsel at his initial appearance held on September 16, 2016. (51:3). Thereafter. Anthony Attorney Procaccio appointed and appeared on Mr. Zolliecoffer's behalf at a hearing held on September 23, 2016. (52:2). On November 14, 2016, Attorney Procaccio moved to withdraw, citing new employment as his reason for continue being unable representing to Zolliecoffer. (8:1).<sup>1</sup>

Thereafter, Attorney Kevin Gaertner was appointed as counsel for Mr. Zolliecoffer. (53:2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The circuit court did not explicitly address Attorney Procaccio's withdrawal on the record but appears to have granted the motion without further proceedings.

Attorney Gaertner made his first court appearance on December 19, 2016—roughly one month before the jury trial was scheduled to commence. (53:1). Counsel requested a new trial date, as he had not yet received discovery material from prior counsel. (53:2). The circuit court therefore rescheduled Mr. Zolliecoffer's trial to March 1, 2017. (53:4; 54:10).

On February 17, 2017, Attorney Gaertner filed a motion to adjourn the March 1st trial date. (10:11; 54:10). As grounds, Attorney Gaertner indicated that he needed "additional time to locate and question additional witnesses." (10:1). According to Attorney Gaertner's averments in the motion, his investigation had been impeded by employees of the Milwaukee Circuit Court. (10:1). While County Gaertner wished to identify who else might have been present in court when the incident allegedly occurred, counsel indicated that he had been informed that Chief Judge Maxine White's approval was necessary in order to access the otherwise confidential family court calendar. (10:1). According to Attorney Gaertner, his request was still awaiting approval from Judge White's office. (10:1).

On February 22, 2017, the parties appeared for a final pretrial. (54:10). Although Mr. Zolliecoffer initially indicated that he might wish to plead guilty on that date, he ultimately withdrew that request during the course of the hearing. (54:9).

The circuit court then addressed the defense motion for an adjournment. (54:10). Attorney

Gaertner explained the ongoing problems he was having in getting access to witnesses given the unique circumstances involved. (54:11). For example, Attorney Gaertner indicated that at least one witness—apparently a member of the court staff—had not cooperated with the defense investigation. (54:12). Attorney Gaertner was also seeking to identify who else might have been present for court that day, which would necessitate access to the otherwise confidential family court calendar. (54:13). Both parties, in conjunction with Judge White's office, were still working together to resolve that investigatory issue. (54:13).

Thus, the State did not object to the request for an adjournment. (54:15). Specifically, Assistant District Attorney James Griffin stated:

I think they're going to have to do this investigation. I don't see how we can go to trial, later find out this investigation wasn't done. My guess we'd be doing it again, I don't know all the issues. I know [the assigned prosecutor] had mentioned to me this meeting with the chief judge, people had court that day. That sounds to me like it would have been a matter of public record, but again with that said I don't know how we could do this without Mr. Gaertner at least assuring the Court he's done reasonable —taken the reasonable steps necessary to investigate the case.

(54:14). The circuit court did not "necessarily disagree." (54:14). It was therefore "inclined to grant some reasonable period of time" for defense counsel to

complete his investigation. (54:14). The circuit court rescheduled the trial to commence on April 26, 2017. (54:17).

Two days later, Attorney Gaertner filed a motion to withdraw. (15:1). As grounds, Attorney Gaertner indicated that there was "a breakdown in communications" and that Mr. Zolliecoffer had requested new counsel. (15:1).

The circuit court held a hearing on the motion on March 3, 2017. (55); (App. 107). It stated that it was treating Attorney Gaertner as the "first attorney in this matter." (55:2); (App. 108). It then addressed the motion as follows:

Mr. Zolliecoffer, I tend to, when it is the first attorney, and as I indicated, I treat Mr. Gaertner sort of as the first attorney, because of the reason why your original attorney left, but I always have this conversation with you:

We are fairly early on in the case and this is your first attorney, substantive attorney.

So, I am inclined to grant your request.

But I want to be clear, and I always give people what I call my, be careful what you ask for, you just might get it speech.

Because I don't allow multiple change of attorneys.

So, the state public defender's officer will, if I remove Mr. Gaertner, appoint somebody else for you.

However, that attorney, whether you like them or not or get along with them or not, is going to be your last attorney in this case short of something very unusual occurring.

Because I don't allow multiple switching of attorneys that at that point, I am either going to determine you're one (1) of those people that is just not going to be happy with whomever is appointed, or it is just simply for the purpose of delay.

I'm not saying that is what is occurring now.

But I just want to warn you, because Mr. Gaertner is a good attorney.

I realize even with good attorneys, sometimes there's, for whatever reason, a particular attorney and client don't mesh well.

But I just want to make sure we had this discussion.

Because if this issue comes with your next attorney, if I grant your request, most likely, my answer next time will be, no.

You are going to be stuck with whomever the state public defender's office appoints next.

(55:3-5); (App. 109-111). Mr. Zolliecoffer indicated that he understood and was asking the circuit court to appoint new counsel. (55:5); (App. 111). The circuit court granted the motion. (55:5); (App. 111). The matter remained scheduled for a trial on April 26, 2017. (56:3).

On March 20, 2017, Attorney Jeremy Evans appeared on behalf of Mr. Zolliecoffer. (56:2). Attorney Evans asked for an adjournment as he had not received discovery from prior counsel. (56:2). The State did not object. (56:3). The circuit court granted the adjournment. (56:3). The case was eventually calendared for a jury trial to commence on May 22, 2017. (57).

However, the parties appeared for a status conference on May 19, 2017 to address the issue of counsel, as Mr. Zolliecoffer was now requesting to substitute retained counsel. (58); (App. 115).<sup>2</sup> The circuit court made extensive prefatory remarks:

And the parties requested that this be put on our calendar today. We have a jury trial starting Monday.

And my understanding is that Mr. Zolliecoffer is interested in retaining private counsel. And that is Mr. Flanagan.

But the problem is, is that Mr. Flanagan is, apparently, not able to handle the trial on Monday.

And that, of course, from the Court's perspective is a problem because Mr. Evans is not the first attorney for Mr. Zolliecoffer. He is actually the third.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CCAP indicates that new counsel, Thomas Flanagan, contacted the court on May 18, 2017, to schedule the hearing.

But I don't count against Mr. Zolliecoffer the first attorney, because the first attorney, Mr. Procaccio, left employment with the State Public Defender's Office, and that's why he received Mr. Gaertner.

But I know Mr. Gaertner, apparently, they had some personality or other issues, and he asked for a new attorney. And at the time, I appointed Mr. Gaertner.

I, of course, explained, as I always do, to Mr. Zolliecoffer that if I granted that request, whoever the State Public Defender's Officer appointed next would be the final attorney; because we couldn't have any further delays. He couldn't constantly swap out attorneys.

## (58:2-3); (App. 116-117).

Attorney Thomas Flanagan was given an opportunity to address the court and explained that Mr. Zolliecoffer had retained his services on May 17, 2017. (58:4); (App. 118). When he was retained, Attorney Flanagan believed that the hearing on May  $22^{\text{nd}}$  was a final pretrial. (58:4); (App. 118). He subsequently learned that it was, in fact, the date of the scheduled jury trial. (58:4); (App. 118). While Attorney Flanagan indicated at one point in his remarks that he "could step in" and "would be ready to hit the ground running," he ultimately concluded that "Monday is a little bit soon." (58:4); (App. 118). He therefore sought an adjournment. (58:2); (App. 116).

Attorney Flanagan further explained that he believed there had been communication problems between Mr. Zolliecoffer and Attorney Evans. (58:4); (App. 118). Based on his initial review of the file, he believed that there were uncompleted investigative tasks. (58:6); (App. 120). Specifically, Attorney Flanagan was interested in obtaining records from family court which related to the hearing at which Mr. Zolliecoffer was allegedly (58:6); (App. disorderly. 120). Based understanding of the investigative picture, Attorney Flanagan averred that an adjournment would likely be necessary "even if [he] had been handling this case from the very beginning." (58:6); (App. 120). Attorney Flanagan also stated that Mr. Zolliecoffer had been trying for some time to raise the funds for private counsel. (App. 119). Finally, (58:5);Attorney Flanagan informed the court that the State might have reason to ask for an adjournment—specifically, he recently learned that the State also had uncompleted investigative tasks. (58:5); (App. 119).

In response, counsel for the State indicated that they had only just been informed about a potential witness by Attorney Evans and that they were interested in taking that witness's statement. (58:7); (App. 121). However, while the State would benefit from an adjournment, it still believed it could proceed to trial without completing that investigative task. (58:7); (App. 121). Thus, the State was "not joining in the request to adjourn just because of that." (58:8); (App. 122). While it conceded that the defense may want to conduct further investigation regarding

the family court case, it did not believe this information was essential to the State's case. (58:8); (App. 122). It left the decision to the circuit court. (58:8); (App. 122).

The circuit court then ruled:

All right.

Well, if Mr. Flanagan was able to proceed with the trial on Monday, I would be inclined to grant the request, because it doesn't really matter to me who tries this case.

What matters to me is that the case is tried.

And we specifically had the discussion regarding change of counsel back when Mr. Gaertner left this case.

This is not the first time that matter was scheduled for trial.

This matter has been pending for now over eight (8) months, and it does need to be tried.

Normally, I would be able to give you a little bit of hope at this point and say, there's always a possibility with an out-of-custody that you will be bumped, because we usually have set four (4) every Monday and every Wednesday.

But you are the only one (1) left for Monday, so, you will go on Monday.

So, under these circumstances, it does concern me that this appears to, perhaps, be for the purpose of delay. But even if not, it certainly would cause a delay which would not be appropriate given where we are in this case and based on everything that has transpired thus far.

And, quite frankly, the fact that I have granted an adjournment at the defense's request previously in this case and I've granted a change of counsel previously in this case.

So, at this point, I am going to deny, because you cannot do the trial on Monday, Mr. Flanagan, I'm going to deny the request at this time.

If for some reason unforeseen to us all today the trial gets bumped for some other reason, I can't imagine, quite frankly, what that would be sitting here today, but stranger things have occurred.

At that point, I would be happy to have you renew your request.

Because, honestly, I really don't care who tries the case for Mr. Zolliecoffer. I just want the case tried.

So, at this point, because you can't make Monday, I'm going to have to deny the request.

Mr. Flanagan, if for some reason Monday's trial doesn't go, you certainly can renew that, because I would certainly have no problem with you subbing in, just not at this eleventh hour that causes a delay of the trial.

(58:10-12); (App. 124-126).

The matter proceeded to trial. (59). Attorney Evans remained counsel of record. (59:4). The circuit court permitted Attorney Flanagan to "silently" assist Attorney Evans. (59:4).<sup>3</sup>

### Jury Selection

During jury selection, thirty potential jurors were called to the courtroom. (66). One juror, #18, was struck for cause due to medical incapacity. (60:41). Each party was given five peremptory challenges. (66). The State utilized two of its five strikes to remove the only two remaining African-American jurors from the panel. (60:44); (App. 130).

Defense counsel objected and cited *Batson v*. *Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). (60:44); (App. 130).

The circuit court responded to the objection:

I don't think you are using it correctly. <u>Batson</u> is a challenge to the voir dire in general. And, quite frankly, I don't even have the details how the people magically occurred in our courtroom. That's done in Room 106. It is really not a <u>Batson</u> challenge. The basis of your concern, and I know sometimes when we get to this point sometimes the prosecutors wish to make a record as to why they struck one or more of the jurors, but it is not really a <u>Batson</u> challenge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Based on an overall review of the trial transcripts, it would appear that Attorney Flanagan was only sporadically in the courtroom.

(60:44-45); (App. 130-131). The prosecutor, Brandon Wigley, was then given the opportunity to justify his peremptory challenges. (60:45); (App. 131). Attorney Wigley agreed with the circuit court's legal analysis, claiming to have never encountered such a challenge previously. (60:45); (App. 131). Attorney Wigley stated that "race doesn't matter" but, if necessary, he could "give reasons as to the other two if there were two." (60:45); (App. 131).

Attorney Evans clarified that he was focusing on the elimination of Jurors #1 and #21. (60:45); (App. 131). Attorney Wigley explained:

As far as Juror No. 1, I had concerns about her ability to understand. Perhaps communicate, but that was one of my weaker strikes. Then No. 21 that came down to having zero children and maybe not understanding, you know, the things that go into child support hearings all of that being a parent. Plus she had no jury experience. Plus a factor was that she indicated she knew people in law enforcement, and she had no criminal justice--she had no criminal justice contacts. So definitely with respect to those two it had nothing to do with their race.

(60:45-46); (App. 131-132).

Attorney Evans pushed back on these explanations:

Jurors No. 6, Juror No. 12, Juror No. 14 and I believe No. 1, 16, and 17. They all had no kids and therefore no experience. Many of them had no experience with a jury. I don't see why that

particularly disqualifies No. 21. I don't see how No. 1 is particularly disqualified. The State said it was one of his weaker strikes.

(60:46); (App. 132). The circuit court asked for legal authority and asserted that "It is not the <u>Batson</u> that would be to the panel." (60:46); (App. 132). Attorney Evans indicated that he had no further arguments. (60:46); (App. 132).

The circuit then issued its ruling:

All right. Thank you. Then no legal arguments have been made why the striking of Jurors 1 and 21 was in any way improper. So then there is nothing no action for the Court to take.

(60:47); (App. 133). After denying the defense motion, the jury was empaneled and the evidentiary phase of the trial commenced.

# Trial and Sentence

After two days of testimony, the jury convicted Mr. Zolliecoffer of all three offenses. (62:88-89). At sentencing, counsel for Mr. Zolliecoffer requested a probation disposition. (63:20). The State asked for three years of initial confinement followed by three years of extended supervision. (63:3). However, the circuit court elected not to follow that recommendation. (63:39). Instead, it imposed and stayed a prison sentence and placed Mr. Zolliecoffer on probation. (63:39).

This appeal follows. (48).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse and remand for a new trial on two grounds. First, the circuit court created a structural error when it unreasonably and arbitrarily denied Mr. Zolliecoffer's motion for substitution of retained counsel and evaluating the circuit continuance. In court's discretionary decision, the record demonstrates that the circuit court failed to consider proper factors and failed to honor the presumption in favor of Mr. Zolliecoffer's counsel of choice.

Second, the prosecutor acted unlawfully in removing two jurors on the basis of race. A careful review of the record discloses that the prosecutor's race-neutral explanations were pretextual. Accordingly, this Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Zolliecoffer's motion for substitution of counsel and an adjournment of the scheduled jury trial.
  - A. Legal principles and standard of review.

In this case, Mr. Zolliecoffer asked the circuit court to substitute retained counsel of choice. Retained counsel stated, however, that he would not be able to represent Mr. Zolliecoffer unless the circuit

court also adjourned the scheduled jury trial date. This situation therefore involves the interplay of two important constitutional rights.

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