# RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN **02-07-2019**

#### COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

# Case No. 2018AP1639-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

PATRICK D. ZOLLIECOFFER,

Defendant-Appellant.

### APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE WILLIAM S. POCAN, PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KATHERINE D. LLOYD Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041801

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES		
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION1		
INTRODUCTION		
STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
ARGUMENT		
I.	its Zollie	ircuit court soundly exercised discretion in denying coffer's eleventh hour motion ostitute counsel4
	A.	Standard of review and relevant law4
	В.	Because substitute counsel was unable to proceed to trial on the scheduled date, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying Zolliecoffer's motion for substitution
II.	Batso	circuit court failed to apply n; thus, this Court should nd the case for a hearing
	A.	Standard of review and relevant law12
	B.	Here, the court did not engage in the required three-part <i>Batson</i> process
CONCLUSION		

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# Cases

Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986)
Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered v. United States, 491 U.S. 617 (1989)
Carlson v. Jess, 526 F.3d 1018 (7th Cir. 2008)
Snyder v. Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472 (2008)
State v. Cole, 2008 WI App 178, 315 Wis. 2d 75, 762 N.W.2d 711
State v. Flynn, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 51, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994)
State v. Jones, 2010 WI 72, 326 Wis. 2d 380, 797 N.W.2d 378 4
State v. Lamon, 2003 WI 78, 262 Wis. 2d 747, 664 N.W.2d 60712, passim
State v. Lomax, 146 Wis. 2d 356, 432 N.W.2d 89 (1988) 4, 5, 8
State v. Prineas, 2009 WI App 28, 316 Wis. 2d 414, 766 N.W.2d 206 4
<i>Taylor v. Lousiana</i> , 419 U.S. 522 (1975)
Wheat v. United States, 486 U.S. 153 (1988)
Statutes
28 U.S.C. § 2254

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the circuit court properly denied Defendant-Appellant Patrick D. Zolliecoffer's motion to substitute counsel and corresponding motion to adjourn the trial?

The circuit court said yes.

This Court should say yes.

2. Whether the circuit court properly denied Zolliecoffer's *Batson* challenge to two of the State's peremptory strikes?

The circuit court said yes.

This Court should say no and remand the case for a *Batson* hearing.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither oral argument nor publication.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Zolliecoffer was argumentative and disruptive at his child support hearing, causing to two sheriff's deputies to detain him. Zolliecoffer resisted their efforts, which prompted the charges and convictions—disorderly conduct, battery to a law enforcement officer, and attempted disarming of a peace officer—underlying this appeal.

Zolliecoffer seeks a new trial based on (1) the circuit court's denial of his eleventh-hour motion to substitute counsel and (2) the circuit court's denial of his *Batson* challenge to two of the State's peremptory strikes. Zolliecoffer is not entitled to a new trial on either ground. The record amply supports the court's discretionary decision on the substitution motion. As for the *Batson* challenge, Zolliecoffer is entitled to relief on this claim, but not a new trial. The trial court never applied the *Batson* factors and accordingly never made the factual determinations it was required to make. Accordingly, this Court should remand to the circuit court for a hearing on the *Batson* challenge.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September 2016, the State charged Zolliecoffer with disorderly conduct, battery to a police officer, and attempting to disarm the officer. (R. 1; 2.) Zolliecoffer, represented by appointed counsel, had a trial scheduled for March 2017. (R. 53:2; 54:9.)

In February 2017, Zolliecoffer began to enter a guilty plea, but he changed his mind. (R. 54:3-8.) Counsel then asked the court for more time to find witnesses, which resulted in the court postponing the trial until late April 2017. (R. 54:9–17.) But counsel moved to withdraw, citing a breakdown in communication. (R. 15; 55:2-3.) The court told Zolliecoffer it was "inclined to grant" counsel's motion to withdraw, but it wanted Zolliecoffer to understand that it would not "allow multiple change of attorneys." (R. 55:3.) The court warned Zolliecoffer that his new appointed attorney, "whether [he] like[d] them or not or get along with them or not, is going to be [his] last attorney in this case short of something very unusual occurring." (R. 55:3-4.) Zolliecoffer confirmed that, despite the court's admonitions, he wanted new counsel. (R. 55:4-5.) After Zolliecoffer received new counsel, the court scheduled the trial for late May. (R. 17; 56:2-5; 57:4.)

On the Friday before the Monday when the trial was set to begin, Zolliecoffer again moved to substitute attorneys. (R. 17; 58.) At the hearing on Zolliecoffer's request, the court learned that Zolliecoffer had retained Attorney Thomas Flanagan two days earlier. (R. 58:3–4.) But Flanagan told the court that he was not prepared to try the case on Monday. (R. 58:4.) Flanagan asked the court to let him represent Zolliecoffer, but that the court adjourn the case to allow him to "look in to" whether there was additional evidence. (R. 58:3–7.) Zolliecoffer did not address the court. (R. 58:10.)

The court said that if Flanagan could try the case on the date scheduled for trial, it "would be inclined to grant the request, because it doesn't really matter . . . who tries this case." (R. 58:10.) But the case had been pending for eight months and it concerned the court that Zolliecoffer's request was "for the purpose of delay." (R. 58:10–11.)

The case proceeded to trial. (R. 59; 60; 61; 62.) Race was a significant topic during voir dire and trial. (R. 59; 62.) Zolliecoffer's defense was that he was unfairly targeted by the Milwaukee County sheriff's deputies because he was black. (R. 60:63.)

After the jury was chosen, Zolliecoffer challenged the State's use of peremptory strikes on two African-American jurors, which resulted in an all-white jury. (R. 60:44.) Zolliecoffer argued the State had violated *Batson*.

The court told Zolliecoffer that his invocation of *Batson* was misplaced because *Batson* concerned challenges to the whole jury pool. (R. 60:44–45.) And the State agreed. (R. 60:45.) Zolliecoffer pointed the State to the specific jurors that he objected to the State striking, but the State denied that it had struck them based on their race. (R. 60:45–46.)

The court continued to tell Zolliecoffer that *Batson* did not apply to his claim, concluding that "no legal arguments have been made why" the strikes were improper "[s]o then there is . . . no action for the Court to take." (R. 60:46–47.) The jury convicted Zolliecoffer of the charges against him and the court imposed a three-year term of probation. (R. 37.) Zolliecoffer appeals. (R. 48.)

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. The circuit court soundly exercised its discretion in denying Zolliecoffer's eleventh hour motion to substitute counsel.

#### A. Standard of review and relevant law.

"[T]he Sixth Amendment guarantees a defendant the right to be represented by an otherwise qualified attorney whom that defendant can afford to hire, or who is willing to represent the defendant even though he is without funds." *Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered v. United States*, 491 U.S. 617, 624–25 (1989). An appellate court "independently reviews whether deprivation of a constitutional right has occurred." *State v. Jones*, 2010 WI 72, ¶ 23, 326 Wis. 2d 380, 797 N.W.2d 378.

But "a defendant has only a presumptive right to employ his or her chosen counsel." *State v. Prineas*, 2009 WI App 28, ¶ 14, 316 Wis. 2d 414, 766 N.W.2d 206. A trial court has discretion to decide motions that relate to the *substitution* of counsel. *Wheat v. United States*, 486 U.S. 153, 162–64 (1988).

In exercising its discretion, the trial court should consider the length of the delay the defendant has requested, whether there is counsel ready to try the case, whether there have been previous delays, convenience or lack thereof to the parties and witnesses, whether the delay seems legitimate or dilatory, as well as other relevant factors. *State v. Lomax*, 146 Wis. 2d 356, 360, 432 N.W.2d 89 (1988). Considering these factors "balances the defendant's constitutional right to counsel against societal interest in the prompt and efficient administration of justice." *Id.* 

"In evaluating whether a trial court's denial of a motion for substitution of counsel is an [erroneous exercise] of discretion, a reviewing court must consider a number of factors." *Id.* at 359. These include the sufficiency of the court's inquiry into the defendant's issue, the timeliness of the motion, and whether the conflict between the defendant and counsel was so significant that it was likely that they could not communicate to the extent that prevented an adequate defense. *Id.* 

#### B. Because substitute counsel was unable to proceed to trial on the scheduled date, the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying Zolliecoffer's motion for substitution.

In September 2016, the State charged Zolliecoffer with the charges for which he was convicted in this case. (R. 1; 2.) In November 2016, the court scheduled the jury trial for January 2017. (R. 7.) But shortly thereafter, Zolliecoffer's counsel moved to withdraw because he had taken another job that precluded him from continuing to represent Zolliecoffer. (R. 8.) Zolliecoffer was appointed new counsel and the trial was rescheduled for March 1, 2017. (R. 53:2; 54:9.)

On the date scheduled for the final pretrial hearing, Zolliecoffer told the court that he was going to enter a guilty plea. (R. 54:3–4.) But during the colloquy, Zolliecoffer reversed course and decided that he wanted to proceed to trial after all. (R. 54:9.) The court, "All right, that's perfectly fine, trial, he wishes a trial he shall have, so let's go ahead and then have our normal pretrial. This matter will stay on the calendar for trial next week on March 1st." (R. 54:9.) But Zolliecoffer's counsel told the court that he needed more time to allow him to find witnesses he had been having difficulty tracking down. (R. 54:10–16.) The court agreed to postpone the trial again, but it told counsel that it doubted that it would grant an additional continuance. (R. 54:16.) The court scheduled the trial for April 26, 2017. (R. 54:17.)

The next day, counsel moved to withdraw, citing a breakdown in communication. (R. 15.) At a hearing on the motion, the court acknowledged that although counsel was technically Zolliecoffer's second attorney on this case, it would treat him as the first attorney. (R. 55:2–3.) Because counsel was effectively Zolliecoffer's first attorney, the court told Zolliecoffer it was "inclined to grant" his motion to withdraw, but it wanted Zolliecoffer to understand that it would not "allow multiple change of attorneys." (R. 55:3.) The court warned Zolliecoffer that his new appointed attorney, "whether [he] like[d] them or not or get along with them or not, is going to be [his] last attorney in this case short of something very unusual occurring." (R. 55:3–4.) The court emphasized,

Because I don't allow multiple switching of attorneys that at that point, I am either going to determine you're one (1) of those people that is just not going to be happy with whomever is appointed, or it is just simply for the purpose of delay.

I'm not saying that that is what is occurring now.

But I just want to warn you, because Mr. Gaertner is a good attorney.

I realize even with good attorneys, sometimes there's, for whatever reason, a particular attorney and client don't mesh well.

But I just want to make sure we had this discussion.

Because if this issue comes with your next attorney, if I grant your request, most likely, my answer next time will be, no. (R. 55:4.)

The court then asked Zolliecoffer if, given what he had just heard, he still wanted counsel to withdraw and have a new attorney appointed for him. (R. 55:4–5.) Because Zolliecoffer confirmed that that was what he wanted, the court granted counsel's motion to withdraw. (R. 55:5.) After Zolliecoffer received new counsel and the case was removed from the trial calendar for a period of time, the court scheduled the trial for late May. (R. 17; 56:2–5; 57:4.)

On the Friday before the Monday when the trial was set to begin, Zolliecoffer again moved to switch attorneys. (R. 17; 58.) At the hearing on Zolliecoffer's request, the court learned that Zolliecoffer had retained Attorney Thomas Flanagan two days earlier. (R. 58:3–4.) But Flanagan told the court that he thought the trial date was the date scheduled for the final pretrial and he was not prepared to try the case in just a few days. (R. 58:4.) Flanagan told the court that Zolliecoffer told him that "his communication with current counsel, they have not been able to communicate very well" and that he had wanted to retain counsel earlier, but he had not secured the funds to do it until that week. (R. 58:4–5.) Flanagan asked the court to let him represent Zolliecoffer, but that the court adjourn the case to allow him to "look in to" whether there was additional evidence. (R. 58:3-7.) Zolliecoffer did not address the court. (R. 58:10.)

The court said that if Flanagan could try the case on the date scheduled for trial, it "would be inclined to grant the request, because it doesn't really matter ... who tries the case." (R. 58:10.) But the case had been pending for eight months and it concerned the court that Zolliecoffer's request was "for the purpose of delay." (R. 58:10–11.) And because the court had granted a previous adjournment made on Zolliecoffer's behalf, as well as his earlier motion for substitution, the court denied the motion. (R. 58:11.) The court suggested that if the case did not proceed to trial on

time—for whatever reasons—Zolliecoffer could renew his motion "[b]ecause, honestly, [it] really do[es]n't care who tries the case." (R. 58:11–12.)

The court's reasoning demonstrates a proper exercise of its discretion. *See Lomax*, 146 Wis. 2d at 360 (stating that the trial court should consider the length of the delay the defendant has requested, whether there is counsel ready to try the case, whether there have been previous delays, convenience or lack thereof to the parties and witnesses, whether the delay seems legitimate or dilatory, as well as other relevant factors). Here, the trial court considered the appropriate factors—including that Zolliecoffer had received previous adjournments and the case had been idling for eight months, that the request appeared for dilatory reasons, and that the motion was made on the near-eve of trial. *See id.* at 360.

And this Court should affirm the circuit court's exercise of discretion. See id. at 359 (this Court reviews the sufficiency of the court's inquiry into the defendant's issue, the timeliness of the motion, and whether the conflict between the defendant and counsel was so significant that it was likely that they could not communicate to the extent that prevented an adequate defense). The court's inquiry into Zolliecoffer's request was thorough. See id. It heard from Flanagan and allowed Zolliecoffer an opportunity to explain why he wanted to substitute counsel at the late hour, but Zolliecoffer declined to offer a reason. See id. Zolliecoffer made the motion at nearly the last moment before trial. See id. While Flanagan explained that the timing was so because Zolliecoffer lacked the funds to retain him earlier, Zolliecoffer offered no reason why he wanted Flanagan to represent him instead of appointed counsel, he made no claim that he had a significant conflict with appointed counsel, and he made no claim that appointed counsel could not provide him an adequate defense. See id.

In sum, because a decision to grant or deny substitution is within a court's discretion, Zolliecoffer must show that the court erroneously exercised that discretion. But Zolliecoffer offered no compelling reason—indeed no reason—why he should be allowed to substitute for the second time at the eleventh hour. Without a compelling reason, and with a request that appeared to be made only for tactical reasons, the court was well within its discretion to deny Zollicoffer's motion.

Zolliecoffer calls the circuit court's decision arbitrary, relying heavily on *Carlson v. Jess*, 526 F.3d 1018 (7th Cir. 2008) for persuasive support.<sup>1</sup> But *Carlson* is distinguishable.

In *Carlson*, Carlson's case was set for trial approximately three months after his arraignment. *Carlson*, 526 F.3d at 1020. Shortly before the scheduled date for trial, Carlson's relationship with his attorney, Randall Kaiser, broke down. *Id*. Carlson hired another lawyer, Robin Shellow, and Kaiser moved to withdraw. *Id*. Four days before the trial was scheduled to begin, Carlson moved to substitute Shellow, provided that the court granted Shellow a continuance so that she could prepare for the trial. *Id*.

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